
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Cabinet 
 

Agenda 
 

 

MONDAY 
4 JUNE 2018 
7.00 pm 
 
COURTYARD ROOM 
HAMMERSMITH 
TOWN HALL 
KING STREET  
LONDON W6 9JU 
 

Membership 
 
Councillor Stephen Cowan, Leader of the Council 
Councillor Sue Fennimore, Deputy Leader 
Councillor Larry Culhane, Cabinet Member for Children and Education 
Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for the Economy and the Arts  
Councillor Wesley Harcourt, Cabinet Member for the Environment  
Councillor Max Schmid, Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial 
Services  
Councillor Ben Coleman, Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social 
Care 
Councillor Lisa Homan, Cabinet Member for Housing 
Councillor Adam Connell, Cabinet Member for Public Services Reform 
Councillor Sue Macmillan, Cabinet Member for Strategy 
 

Date Issued 
24 May 2018 

If you require further information relating to this agenda please contact: 
Katia Richardson, Committee Coordinator, tel: 020 8753 2368 or email: 
katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Reports on the open Cabinet agenda are available on the Council’s 
website: www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy 

 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE 

 
The Cabinet hereby gives notice of its intention to hold part of this meeting in private to 
consider item 10 which is exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972, in that they relate to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person, including the authority holding the information. 
 
The Cabinet has received no representations as to why the relevant part of the meeting should 
not be held in private. 
 

 
Members of the Public are welcome to attend. 

A loop system for hearing impairment is provided, together with disabled  
access to the building 

 

mailto:katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DEPUTATIONS 

Members of the public may submit a request for a deputation to the Cabinet on non-exempt 
item numbers 5-6 on this agenda using the Council’s Deputation Request Form (item 4 is 
not a Key Decision).  The completed Form, to be sent to Kayode Adewumi at the above 
address, must be signed by at least ten registered electors of the Borough and will be 
subject to the Council’s procedures on the receipt of deputations. Deadline for receipt of 
deputation requests: Wednesday 30 May 2018. 

COUNCILLORS’ CALL-IN TO SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

A decision list regarding items on this agenda will be published by Wednesday 6 June 
2018.  Items on the agenda may be called in to the relevant Accountability Committee. 
 
The deadline for receipt of call-in requests is:  Monday 11 June 2018 at 3.00pm. Decisions 
not called in by this date will then be deemed approved and may be implemented. 
 
A confirmed decision list will be published after 3:00pm on Monday 11 June 2018. 

 

 
 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Cabinet 
Agenda 

 
4 June 2018 

 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 16 APRIL 2018  1 - 6 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

3.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.   

 

4.   ANNUAL EMERGENCY PLANNING & BUSINESS CONTINUITY 
REPORT  

7 - 41 

5.   FORMER BBC TELEVISION CENTRE SITE, WOOD LANE W12 - 
CONSTRUCTION OF VEHICLE ACCESS POINTS (SECTION 106 
HIGHWAY WORKS)  

42 - 50 

6.   APPROVAL TO ALLOCATE ADDITIONAL FUNDS TO THE 
WATERMEADOW COURT DEMOLITION BUDGET  

51 - 54 



7.   FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS  55 - 63 

8.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   

 The Cabinet is invited to resolve, under Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, that the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting during the consideration of the following items of business, on 
the grounds that they contain the likely disclosure of exempt information, 
as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the said Act, and that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption currently outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

 

9.   EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 16 APRIL 
2018 (E)  

 

10.   APPROVAL TO ALLOCATE ADDITIONAL FUNDS TO THE 
WATERMEADOW COURT DEMOLITION BUDGET: EXEMPT 
ASPECTS (E)  

 

 



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Cabinet 
Minutes 

 

Monday 16 April 2018 
 

 

 
PRESENT 
 
Councillor Sue Fennimore, Deputy Leader 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt, Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Residents 
Services 
Councillor Lisa Homan, Cabinet Member for Housing 
Councillor Sue Macmillan, Cabinet Member for Children and Education 
 

161. MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 5 MARCH 2018  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 5 March 2018 confirmed 
and signed as an accurate record of the proceedings, and that the outstanding 
actions be noted. 
 

162. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Cowan, Coleman, Jones 
and Schmid. 
 

163. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

164. PROCUREMENT OF SOFTWARE LICENSES FOR CLOUD-BASED 
COLLABORATION TOOLS  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. To agree the Business case & Procurement Strategy set out in Appendix 
A, contained in the exempt part of this report. 
 

2. To undertake the procurement of Microsoft server and cloud 
collaboration tool licences to ensure the licensing required for the 
software LBHF uses to support business operation, in particular the 
provision of email through Office 365 (“Microsoft licences”). 
 

3. To note that the procurement will to be managed by the Royal Borough 
of Kensington & Chelsea (RBKC) who will hold the Master licence and 
that the Council will hold an affiliate licence. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

4. To note that the RBKC route to procurement will be through calling off 
from the CCS Framework Agreement (No. RM3733, Technology 
Products 2, Lot 2 – Packaged Software). 

 
5. That the Council enters into an inter-authority agreement with RBKC 

relating to the recovery of costs incurred in relation to the Affiliate 
Licences. 

 
6. To note that the contract for the Microsoft licences will expire on 31st 

May 2021. 
 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 

165. PLANNING OBLIGATIONS DRAW DOWN REPORT  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That officers be authorised to drawdown Section 106 and CIL monies as 
set out in section 4 of this report, to fund expenditure of up to 
£33,014,421 plus up to £600,000 monitoring and administration costs. 
 

2. That the final decision on the amount to be used for the purposes set out 
in paragraph 4.24 be delegated to the Strategic Director Growth & Place 
and the Strategic Director Finance & Governance in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and the Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development and Regeneration. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

166. ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION TO REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 
FOR BASEMENT EXCAVATION  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That after careful consideration of the consultation representations 
Cabinet proceeds to confirm the Article 4 Direction made on 25 April 
2017 (see appendix 1) and coming into force on 26 April 2018.   

 
2. That Cabinet delegates to the Strategic Director Growth & Place, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and 
Regeneration all necessary tasks to give effect to the confirmed 
Direction (including notifying affected property owners and the Secretary 
of State).  

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 

167. ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION TO REMOVE PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 
FOR OFFICE TO RESIDENTIAL CONVERSIONS  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That after careful consideration of the consultation representations 
Cabinet proceeds to confirm the Article 4 Direction made on 25 April 
2017 (see appendix 1) and coming into force on 26 April 2018.  

 
2. That Cabinet delegates to the Strategic Director Growth & Place, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economic Development and 
Regeneration all necessary tasks to give effect to the confirmed direction 
(including notifying affected property owners and the Secretary of State).  

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 

Page 3



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 
168. APPROVAL OF THE HIGHWAYS MAINTENANCE PROGRAMME 2018-2019  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
1. To approve the programme in Appendix B. 

 
2. That authority be delegated to the Bi-borough Director Highways & Parks, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and 
Residents’ Services, to make amendments to the programme as agreed for 
operational and cost-effective reasons, in order to make the optimum use of 
resources.  

 
3. To note that reports and updates on programme amendments (additions 

and removals) to the approved scheme list be made, as and when required, 
during the year to the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and 
Residents’ Services. 

 
4. To note that in order to avoid the need for repeated authorising reports, the 

programme needs to be managed as a whole.  On this basis, officers are 
seeking exception from the normal key decision process of obtaining 
approval on a scheme by scheme basis noting that some schemes will 
exceed £100,000, the key decision threshold. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 

169. LEISURE CONTRACT RE-PROCUREMENT  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. To approve the Business Case & Procurement Strategy for the leisure 
and sports centre facilities as set out in Appendix 1, attached to the 
report. 
 

2. That delegated authority be granted to the Bi-borough Director Highways 
& Parks, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment, 
Transport & Residents’ Services, to award the contract for leisure and 
sports centre facilities to the successful tenderer. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 

Page 4



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 

170. HR, PAYROLL AND FINANCE SERVICE TRANSITION PROGRAMME  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the content of the report be noted. 

Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 

171. FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS  
 
The Key Decision List was noted. 
 

172. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
and press be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 
remaining items of business on the grounds that they contain information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of a person (including the authority) 
as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption currently outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
[The following is a public summary of the exempt information under 
S.100C (2) of the Local Government Act 1972.  Exempt minutes exist as a 
separate document.] 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

173. EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 5 MARCH 2018 (E)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 5 March 2018 be 
confirmed and signed as an accurate record of the proceedings, and that the 
outstanding actions be noted. 
 

174. PROCUREMENT OF SOFTWARE LICENSES FOR CLOUD-BASED 
COLLABORATION TOOLS: EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the recommendations in the exempt report be approved. 
 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 

175. HR, PAYROLL AND FINANCE SERVICE TRANSITION PROGRAMME: 
EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the content of the report be noted. 

Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 

 Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 7.05 pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 

Page 6



 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CABINET 

 
4 JUNE 2018 

 
 

ANNUAL EMERGENCY PLANNING & BUSINESS CONTINUITY REPORT 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for the Environment – Councillor Wesley 
Harcourt 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification -  Open report 
 

Key Decision: No 
 

Consultation 
This report follows a Review of H&F Council’s Emergency Response to Major 
Incidents in 2017 report that has completed a round of consultation with the Audit, 
Pensions and Standards Committee and all five scrutiny committees. All 
departments of the council have been consulted and: Legal, Finance and Risk 
Management comments have been included.  
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Director: Nicholas Austin, Director of Residents’ Services 
 

Report Author: Alistair Ayres, Head of 
Emergency Services 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3994 
E-mail: alistair.ayres@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. The ability to respond and recover quickly from an incident is a measure of 

'resilience' and is an important aspect of building safer and stronger 
communities.  
 

1.2. The Council has responsibilities under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 to 
plan and respond to emergencies and to have business continuity 
arrangements in place to reduce the risk of service disruption.  
 

1.3. This report seeks to establish good governance arrangements whereby 
cabinet annually agrees the work programme and priorities. For 2018/19 the 
work programme reflects interest areas and learning from H&F Council’s 
Emergency Response to Major Incidents in 2017 report. The review report 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

 

completed a round of consultation with the Audit, Pensions and Standards 
Committee and all five scrutiny committees.  
 

1.4. The Chief Executive also commissioned an independent report to provide 
assurance surrounding the council’s response and emergency planning 
arrangements following the Parson Green Terrorist incident in the borough. 
One of the recommendations of the review to ensure good governance is that 
an annual report is brought to Cabinet on Emergency Planning, providing an 
overview of activity over the past 12 months and planned future activity and 
priorities. 
 

1.5. The council has a robust emergency plan in place and this was activated a 
number of times over the previous year as part of the Council’s response to 
incidents, such as Grenfell Tower, Parsons Green and two major burst water 
mains. 

 
1.6. There are national and regional frameworks in place that govern how local 

plans are produced. Our plans have been updated following a thorough 
review and because of the learning gained through responding to incidents 
and exercises. 
 

1.7. This report looks back over the previous year and looks forward to our 
priorities and work plan for the forthcoming year. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. That Cabinet agree the report and the work plan for 2018-2019. 

 
3. BACKGROUND 

 
3.1. Part 1 of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and supporting regulations and 

statutory guidance establish a clear set of roles and responsibilities for those 
involved in emergency preparation and response at the local level. The Act 
divides local responders into 2 categories, imposing a different set of duties 
on each. 

 
3.2. Those in Category 1 are organisations at the core of the response to most 

emergencies (the emergency services, local authorities, NHS bodies). The 
aim is to ensure organisations have effective, well-practiced emergency plans 
in place.  
 

3.3. The Council as a Category 1 responder is subject to the full set of civil 
protection duties and are required to; 
 

 assess the risk of emergencies occurring and use this to inform our 
contingency planning 

 put in place emergency plans and business continuity management 
arrangements 

Page 8



 

 

 put in place arrangements to make information available to the public 
about civil protection matters and maintain arrangements to warn, 
inform and advise the public in the event of an emergency 

 share information and co-operate with other local responders to 
enhance co-ordination and efficiency 

 provide advice and assistance to businesses and voluntary 
organisations about business continuity management 

 
3.4. During 2017 London and the UK has been affected by a range of major 

incidents including: 
 

 the terrorist attack on Westminster Bridge in March; 

 the Manchester Arena terrorist attack in May; 

 the terrorist attack at Borough Market/London Bridge in early June; 

 the Grenfell Tower Fire in mid-June; 

 the terrorist attack near Finsbury Park Mosque in June; 

 the evacuation of residents from four tower blocks in Camden following 
fire safety testing in late June; 

 the terrorist attack on a tube train at Parsons Green in September. 
 
4. H&F’s EMERGENCY RESPONSE STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

 
4.1 Building Community Resilience to ensure our communities are prepared and 

can respond and recover quickly in times of emergency.  
 
4.2  The council’s Strategic Priorities for any emergency are to:  

 

 provide support to incident responding agencies as required  

 support the vulnerable  

 maintain continuity of council service provision  

 provide assistance and information to Hammersmith and Fulham’s 
businesses and communities  

 provide community leadership  

 and assist the return to normality’   
 
These may be amended by the Council strategic lead (Gold) in consultation 
with Council response lead (Silver) once the details of a specific incident 
become clear. 
 

4.3 The council’s Strategic Priorities for recovery from an emergency are to:  
 
a) provide strong and visible leadership during the recovery phase 
b) support the health and welfare of the borough’s communities 
c) assist in the restoration of the built and natural environment   
d) assist communities and business to return to normality 
e) monitor financial matters and pursue funding and other assistance 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

 

 
5. EMERGENCY RESPONSE ARRANGEMENTS 

 
5.1  Our emergency planning aims, where possible, to prevent emergencies 

occurring, and when they do occur good planning should reduce, control or 
mitigate the effects of the emergency. It is a systematic and ongoing process 
which evolves as lessons are learnt and circumstances change.  
 

5.2  Emergency planning should also look beyond the immediate response and 
long-term recovery issues and look also at secondary impacts. For example, 
the wave of reaction to an emergency can be quite overwhelming in terms of 
media attention and public response. Plans need to consider how to handle 
this increased interest. 
 

5.3  The emergency planning procedures in H&F are quite clear.  This is set out in 
the figure below.  In this structure, Gold is the strategic lead (usually the Chief 
Executive or nominated deputy, Silver the tactical lead (selected from an 
established rota of trained staff on call) and Bronze the operational lead. 

 
5.4 If an emergency requires an evacuation, a Welfare Bronze is appointed from 

Social Care services to examine council records for premises within the 
cordon to identify any needs or vulnerabilities.  A Fire Brigade (LFB) trained 
Local Authority Liaison Officer (LALO) is deployed to a rendezvous point.  The 
LALO attends on site Silver meetings and reports back to the council Duty 
Silver on what is required. The LALO shares the information to the police, fire 
service and any other authorities providing emergency services to inform the 
response. 
 

5.5 The Emergency Planning Team for our Council consists of one full time 
Emergency Planning Manager and one part-time Business Continuity 
Manager. Approval was given by Cabinet in September 2017 to recruit 

Council Gold 

Welfare Bronze 
Housing 

Emergency 
Response Officer 

Rest Centre 
Manager 

Communications 
Bronze 

Environment 
Bronze 

BECC Officers 

Council Silver Local Authority 
Liaison Officer 

Page 10



 

 

additional resource to increase capacity within the core planning team for a 
period of 18 months and enhance the training and exercising of emergency 
responders across the council.   
 

5.6  The wider emergency response team is made up of officers across the 
Council who are trained in emergency response roles. They are supported by 
on call staff responsible for rest centres, welfare, housing and 
communications among others.  
 

5.7  H&F has a number of officers on call 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. A rota 
of “Silvers” are responsible for leading the Council’s tactical response to 
emergency incidents. 

 
5.8 Actions have been taken to increase the number of key personnel who can 

act Duty Silver, Welfare Bronze, and Rest Centre Managers to ensure there 
are at least eight trained officers per role who are on call 24 hours 365 days a 
year. 
 

5.9  Supporting these roles is a wider team of 30 other trained responders who 
can fulfil several roles, such as Local Authority Liaison Officers and Borough 
Emergency Control Officers, amongst others. Additional recruitment and 
training of new staff is ongoing and housing Services have also expanded 
their rota of Emergency Response Officers.  

 
5.11 The H&F Emergency Planning team compiles and circulates, to selected 

senior officers and those on emergency response rotas on a weekly basis, a 
rota known as ‘Weekly Orders’.  This sets out which officers are responsible 
for different levels of command and control in the event of an emergency 
incident. The circulation list has been reviewed and expanded during the year 
as a result of feedback. 

 
5.12 Under London’s local authority Gold arrangements, any borough can request 

mutual aid when facing an emergency incident. A request is submitted to the 
London Resilience Group (LRG) and signed off by London Local Authority 
Gold (LLAG).   

 
5.13 H&F Gold is the Chief Executive, who is also on the London’s local authority 

Gold rota for major incidents in London. 
 
5.14 This report details the incidents we have responded to in 2017/18, training, 

exercising and changes following incidents. The report highlights areas of 
work for the new financial year to ensure continuous improvement in the 
service. 
 

6. REVIEW AND CONSULTATION 
 
6.1. An emergency planning lessons learned report for H&F and review following 

the Grenfell Tower tragedy was taken to the Finance & Delivery policy & 
accountability committee on 6th September 2017. 
 

Page 11



 

 

6.2. In October 2017, following two major incidents that required an emergency 
response from H&F Council – the Grenfell Tower fire in June and the Parsons 
Green tube terrorist attack in September - a review was conducted into the 
Council’s handling of the events. 
 

6.3. The review resulted in a draft consultative report which was discussed at the 
Audit, Pension and Standards Committee and Finance and Delivery Policy 
and Accountability Committee (PAC) in December 2017 and the Economic 
Regeneration, Housing and the Arts PAC, Children and Education PAC, 
Community Safety, Environment and Residents’ Services PAC and Health, 
Adult Social Care and Social Inclusion PAC in January 2018.  It was also 
discussed at the H&F Youth Council in March 2018.  The discussions at each 
of these forums led to the further development and refinement of the report’s 
recommendations and these have been included at Appendix 1. 
 

6.4. Following the Parson Green Terrorist attack the Chief Executive 
commissioned a review from an independent emergency planning consultant 
to assess the status of the Council’s emergency planning (EP) arrangements 
and to make recommendations as required. 
  

6.5. The review commended examples of best practise such as; 
 

 The council silver rota 

 The bronze or operational rota that includes Rest Centre Managers and 
Local Authority Liaison Officers  

 The Council’s communications planning 

 The work being done to address the issues of community resilience 

 A professional, well lead and highly motivated emergency planning 
team 

 
6.6. The review made a number of recommendations to support our improvement 

work all of which have been actioned and included action taken in 2017/18 in 
appendix 2. 
 

6.7. Given the cumulative significance of the incidents occurring in 2017, London 
Councils commissioned an independent peer challenge focusing on the extent 
to which boroughs’ collaborative resilience arrangements can be further 
strengthened and these will be taken forward in our work plan. 
 

7. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  
 

7.1. The last year has been unprecedented in the number and scale of emergency 
incidents responded to. Incidents outside Hammersmith & Fulham can still 
have an impact on our planning and service delivery. Officers from 
Hammersmith & Fulham were heavily involved in the response to Grenfell 
Tower and provided control room staff to assist the Camden housing 
evacuation. This is in addition to the Parsons Green tube bombing and two 
major burst water mains on King Street and Goldhawk Road. 
 

Page 12



 

 

7.2. In addition to the above the team has dealt with numerous smaller scale 
incidents and there have been several business continuity issues throughout 
the year requiring services to enact their own continuity plans.  
 
Incidents out of the borough 
 

7.3. There were three major terrorist incidents at the start of the 2017/18 financial 
year that did not occur in H&F but had indirect impacts on this borough. The 
Westminster Bridge attack occurred in March, Manchester Arena bombing in 
May and the London Bridge attack in June.  
 

7.4. The Manchester bombing came just before the 2017 general election and 
required a change in our usual election planning to ensure additional security 
and police presence around the town hall.  
 

7.5. The London attacks required a heightened response for tension monitoring in 
borough led by the Prevent Team. We were required to report back to London 
Resilience any issues in borough so they could form a London wide view and 
response if necessary.  
 

7.6. The Grenfell Tower tragedy occurred in June 2017 and had a direct impact on 
Hammersmith & Fulham. The response to Grenfell by H&F has been the 
subject of reports sent to the Policy and Accountability Committees and the 
summary and recommendations from this are attached at appendix 2.  
 

7.7. A significant number of H&F staff were directly involved in the Grenfell Tower 
response either through mutual aid requests for assistance or in their role 
within a Shared Service. 
 

7.8. H&F provided Rest Centre Managers and officers to assist in the various rest 
centres set up in RBKC. We provided staff to work in the Borough Emergency 
Control Centre (BECC) in RBKC and Westminster. This was in addition to 
running our own BECC in Hammersmith.  
 

7.9. H&F formed the Grenfell Outreach Task Force, a group of 15 dedicated 
officers from Housing Solutions, Children’s and Adult Social Services, which 
for several weeks made daily, scheduled visits to the 40+ households placed 
in hotels in the borough. This team continues to work with those households 
still in the borough.  
 

7.10. Following Grenfell, Camden Council evacuated several tower blocks due to 
fire safety concerns in August 2018. Due to the scale of this evacuation they 
made a request for mutual aid. H&F provided staff to assist with the BECC in 
Camden to manage the process.  
 

7.11. H&F also opened the Brough’s emergency control centre over the August 
bank holiday weekend as a precaution to ensure the council was ready 
support quickly if an incident had occurred. 
 
Incidents within the borough 

Page 13



 

 

 
Parsons Green 

 
7.12. On Friday 15th September 2017 at 08.35 an improvised explosive device was 

detonated on a tube at Parsons Green station and H&F activated its 
emergency plan. People were evacuated from the area as a police cordon 
was put in place around the crime scene.  It also attracted huge international 
media interest. 
 

7.13. The borough control centre was stood up and working by 08.40. Local 
Authority Liaison Officers (LALOs) were deployed to site as were Rest Centre 
Officers/Managers, Incident Response Officers, and Duty Welfare Officers 
and an official rest centre was established to cater for displaced residents. 

 
7.14. H&F were also responsible for setting up and chairing the Humanitarian 

Assistance Group, which looks at the welfare needs of victims and witnesses 
to an event. The group consisted of various agencies, such as NHS England, 
Home Office, H&F CCGs, Victim Support and others. The main focus was the 
mental health support provided to those affected, including schools, residents 
and people travelling through the borough on the tube.  
 

7.15. The overall response was excellent. Feedback from the public has been 
supportive of the Council’s efforts and emergency blue light services have 
also praised our response. However, as with any incident there are areas to 
improve and changes have been made to our plans where necessary to 
ensure we provide the best response to those affected.  
 
Water mains – King Street and Goldhawk Road 
 

7.16. H&F had two major water main bursts within a short period of time, which had 
significant impacts on residents and businesses in borough. King Street on 
26th January and Goldhawk Road shortly after on 31st January.  
 

7.17. The King Street burst mainly affected business, although some residents had 
to be evacuated from their homes on the night. H&F Silver was on scene at 
the time of the burst and liaised with the emergency services and Thames 
Water to ensure residents and businesses were cared for. Hammersmith 
Town Hall was opened 24 hours to provide Thames Water with an area to 
speak with affected people and organise temporary accommodation or 
insurance claims as required. The Highways Team put in place road 
diversions and worked closely with the emergency services to ensure minimal 
disruption to traffic through the borough. The burst was isolated approximately 
6 hours after the incident occurred.  
 

7.18. The Goldhawk Road burst had much wider service implications and affected a 
much larger area.  It had significant local impact including disruption to supply 
for 2 hospitals, and localised impacts on transport and an estimated 9,000 
properties affected with low or no water pressure.  There was the potential for 
loss of water whilst isolating the broken main to an estimated 250,000 people 
although this did not materialise during the resolution of the incident. 

Page 14



 

 

7.19. Due to the potential impact of the incident there were three London Resilience 
Group organised multi-agency teleconferences called during the day (14.00, 
16.30 and 18.30hrs) and the London Water Supply Disruption Plan was 
utilised to support the response to the incident.  
 

7.20. The Chief Executive met with senior representatives from Thames Water to 
understand better why the leaks happened, to ensure the return to normality, 
was hastened and seek assurance regarding the prospects of further leaks. 
 

7.21. A debrief with partner agencies, including Thames Water took place on 30th 
April to review the response and make recommendations for future incident 
management.  
 
Other incidents 
 

7.22. In addition to the large-scale incidents above H&F has responded to 
numerous smaller local incidents throughout the year. Most of these incidents 
require coordination at a tactical level by the Council’s Silver with input from 
other Council departments or on call emergency staff as appropriate.  Brief 
details of some of these are below: 

 

Date Incident Response 

6th July 2017 Bulky waste fire hazard at 
housing premises 

LFB reported significant 
fire hazard of dumped 
bulky waste. Removal 
arranged overnight 

16th September 2017 Suspect package at 
Fulham Broadway 
Centre. Evacuation.  

Coordination with police  

1st February 2018 Fire and small evacuation  Liaison with Housing and 
London Fire Brigade. Full 
rest centre not required 

7th February 2018 Fatal fire  Liaison of with Housing, 
LFB and police 

8th & 23rd March 2018 Two instances of fire at in 
the electrical intake 
cupboard 

Liaison with Housing, LFB 
and UK Power Networks. 
No requirement for rest 
centre. However, 
vulnerable people 
identified and information 
passed to LFB in case of 
evacuation.  

12th, 15th & 23rd March 
2018 

Traveller encampments  Liaison with police and 
LFB and business to 
address concerns of 
traveller encampments on 
private land. Advice was 
provided and welfare 
checks carried out.  

 

Page 15



 

 

 
 
 
Service continuity incidents 

 
7.23. As well as the emergency incidents detailed above there have been several 

service continuity implications for the Council. The burst water mains and 
adverse weather conditions affected Council buildings requiring service 
continuity plans to be enacted. 
 

7.24. The burst water mains affected water supply to Hammersmith Town Hall, the 
Town Hall Extension and 145 King Street. Subsequently there was no running 
water or heating. A Service Resilience Group (SRG) was established to 
identify issues and put in place mitigation to ensure service delivery to 
residents.  
 

7.25. Services are categorised from Priority 1 (P1) to Priority 4 (P4) with P1 
services being the highest priority to ensure service delivery is maintained or 
brought back into service within 24 hours. Frontline services such as those 
provided by Adult Social care and Children’s Services are generally 
categorised as P1. Several of these services are based out of 145 King Street 
and had to implement their continuity plans to maintain services to residents.  
 

7.26. The ground floor of 145 King Street remained open to the public. Space was 
identified in other buildings to allow services to decant and continue working. 
Temporary toilet facilities were brought into the courtyard of Hammersmith 
Town Hall to ensure staff could remain in the building. Communications were 
sent to all staff to provide updates on affected buildings and relocation points.  
 

7.27. No services to residents were adversely affected by the issues experienced 
by the Council due to the successful operation of service continuity plans.  
 

8. BUSINESS CONTINUITY 
 

8.1. The council’s Service Resilience Group meets quarterly to monitor service 
resilience issues, such as supply chain, cyber-attacks and other impacts that 
can affect service delivery. The group also meets to respond to incidents as 
required.  
 

8.2. Work was undertaken this year to improve business continuity plans and 
identify key suppliers across the Council to ensure plans are put in place to 
ensure services are maintained in the event of a supplier failure, such has 
been seen with the collapse of Carillion. As a consequence, all plans have 
been reviewed and tested to comply with more stringent tests.  
 

8.3. To assist departments in their planning the Business Continuity Manager 
attended departmental meetings and arranged training and drop in sessions 
to assist in writing and testing plans. Departments were required to have 
updated plans by the end of March 2018. Below is a table detailing the status 

Page 16



 

 

of plans. Note Public Services Reform did not exist as a department until 1st 
April 2018.  
 
 
 
 

Department Status RAG 

Growth & Place Plans Reviewed &Tested by 31/03/18 Green 

Residents’ Services Plans Reviewed &Tested by 31/03/18 Green 

Children’s Services Plans Reviewed &Tested by 31/03/18 Green 

Social Care Plans Reviewed &Tested by 31/03/18 Green 

Corporate Services Plans Reviewed &Tested by 31/03/18 Green 

Finance & Governance Plans Reviewed &Tested by 31/03/18 Green 

Public Services Reform Plans Reviewed &Tested by 01/06/18 Green 

 
9. TRAINING AND EXERCISING 

 
9.1. The Training and exercising of staff and plans is key to ensuring service 

delivery.  
 

 The Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) received training on Gold 
Council responsibilities and command and control,  

 15 new Rest Centre officers were trained in the last six months 

 Children’s Services and Housing Teams received training on Council 
responsibilities and command and control 

 Control Centre (BECC) officer training was delivered and 7 new officers 
trained 

 
9.2. The Chief Executive also undertook London Resilience Group training and 

shadowing to allow her to participate in the London wide chief executive’s 
gold rota. The Chief Executive has twice visited the MPS control room. 
 

9.3. Exercise Dom Opieke was held on 12th September 2017 with Adult Social 
Care, NHS England, Imperial NHS Trust Central London Community 
Healthcare and others to test the scenario of an evacuation of a care home 
inside a cordon.  
 

9.4. Exercise Tenebrae held on 24th October 2017 with the Council Silvers to test 
responsiveness to a significant power outage in the borough. This included 
issues with standard housing and sheltered accommodation. 
 

9.5. A London wide Exercise Safer City held on 14th and 15th March 2018 was 
held to test the communication and capacity to respond across London, 
liaising with London Resilience and London Gold. H&F played a full part in the 
exercise and used the opportunity to test newly trained staff in the Borough 
Emergency Control Centre, run a Service Resilience Group (SRG) and test 
communications. Prevent also took part in this exercise reporting through the 
Home Office and London Resilience channels.  
 

Page 17



 

 

9.6. Further training and exercises are planned and included in the work plan for 
the forthcoming year. 
 

10. RESOURCES AND STAFFING  
 

10.1. Following the Grenfell Tower tragedy staffing resource in emergency planning 
and business continuity was identified as an area that required further 
investment. An additional Emergency Planning Officer post was introduced 
and recruited to internally and our existing Business Continuity Manager was 
moved from part time to full time.  
 

10.2. We have also expanded the number of people on the rotas and increased the 
numbers of trained emergency responders. There are now around 105 people 
trained to act in various roles to respond to emergencies within the Council. 
Each emergency response rota; Silver, Welfare and rest Centre has 8 people 
who rotate each week to ensure there is a 24-hour response cover for 
emergencies in borough. The rest of the response staff are taken from a pool 
of other volunteers who are called in as and when necessary.  
 

10.3. The additional resources have meant that all the emergency plans and 
business continuity plans have been updated and additional training delivered 
and will enable the progression of next year’s work plan 
 

10.4. Funding for 2017/18 has been covered by underspends and increased 
income from the Registration Service. The variance in budget for additional 
staff, increase in hours and rota spend will come out of reserves for the 
financial year 2018/19.  
 

11. COMMUNITY RESILIENCE 
 

11.1. Building Community Resilience is a priority for H&F to ensure our 
communities are prepared and can respond and recover quickly in times of 
emergency. We want to ensure that our communities are able to help 
themselves during an emergency in a way that complements emergency 
services and reduces the impact of an emergency on our community both in 
the short and long term. 
 

11.2. Our community will be better prepared to cope during and after an emergency 
when everyone works together using their local knowledge. Things like 
understanding what requirements groups most at need may have in an 
emergency can make a real difference. Identifying and planning for the risks 
they may encounter during a severe flood, heat-wave or snowfall could help in 
reducing the potential impact on the wider community. 
 

11.3. On 19th September 2017 the Council held a ground breaking Emergency 
Planning Community Hackathon with business and community organisations 
to improve how we can work together in response to emergencies. 
 

11.4. The event, ‘Stronger Together: Building Community Resilience’, has been 
held with representatives of local businesses and community groups to 

Page 18



 

 

ensure everyone knows their role.  (A hackathon is an event with focussed 
sessions that brings stakeholders together to discuss complex problems and 
come up with possible solutions.) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Summary of findings from the hackathon 
 

 
 

11.5. As a result, H&F launched the Emergency Planning extranet website online to 
allow us to liaise directly with community organisations to share information 
and best practice and to provide a networking platform for those organisations 
to work closer with the Council and each other. Using communications 
channels and ensure the right information goes out and updates in a live 
incident can be provided. It will also allow dissemination of requests for 
assistance, such as volunteers to assist in rest centres. Organisations can 
provide the Council with details of what they can provide, such as people, 
places or things (transport, facilities etc.). H&F is the first Council to launch 
such a site and our approach has generated interest from Councils across 
London.  
 

11.6. A further community event is being organised in July 2018 to show 
organisations how we manage rest centres, liaise with emergency services 
and have further discussions on how we can assist each other in 
emergencies.  
 

11.7. An emergency response skills audit is in process with community 
organisations to understand what can be provided in emergencies and we will 
build on this throughout the coming year. 
 

Page 19



 

 

11.8. Increasing community resilience is an important focus for our 2018 – 2019 
work plan. 

 
12. LOOKING FORWARD 

 
12.1. For 2018/19 the focus for Emergency Planning and Business Continuity is to 

embed emergency response and planning throughout the organisation. 
Training and exercising with staff, volunteers and external organisations 
throughout the year.  
 

12.2. London Resilience has begun a standardisation programme for roles and 
responsibilities across London. This was highlighted as an issue following the 
Grenfell Tower tragedy. H&F will work with London Resilience and other 
boroughs to ensure our plans and training fit with the new standardised 
processes as they are completed.  
 

12.3. London Resilience works on a three-year planning cycle, with specific plans 
identified for significant review each year. For 2018/19 these are: 
Humanitarian Assistance; Fuel Disruption; and Resilient Communications.  
 

12.4. Exercise Raptor 5 in May 2018 is a major exercise with Heathrow, emergency 
services and military involvement. This will test our Mass Fatalities Plan and 
coordination with Heathrow in the case of a terrorist incident in a terminal.  
 

12.5. Surface water flooding exercise has been arranged for later in the year and 
initial planning with key partners has begun.  

 
13. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
13.1. There are no negative impacts on any groups with protected characteristics, 

under the terms of the Equalities Act 2010, from Cabinet accepting this annual 
Emergency Planning Report. 

 
13.2. Vulnerable people, including those with protected characteristics, may be less 

able to help themselves in an emergency than non-vulnerable people. Those 
who are vulnerable will vary depending on the nature of the emergency, but 
where appropriate plans should consider issues such as those with mobility 
difficulties; those with mental health difficulties; and others who are 
dependent, such as children. 
 

13.3. Implications completed by: Peter Smith, Head of Policy and Strategy, tel. 020 
8753 2206. 
 

14. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

14.1. The legal implications for the Council in planning for and responding to 
emergencies remain the same. Section 2 of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 
requires the Council as a category one responder to carry out risk 
assessments, and to complete emergency plans and business continuity 
arrangements. 

Page 20



 

 

 
14.2. Implications verified by: Kevin Beale, Senior Corporate Solicitor, tel 020 8753 

2740. 
 

15. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

15.1. In response to the wider lessons learned from the Grenfell incident Cabinet 
approved a drawdown of £111,000 from the Community Safety Reserve to 
increase the resilience of the Emergency Planning Team for 18 months. 
However, due to underspends and increased income in the Registration 
Service the spend of £384,800 for 2017/18 will come from existing budget. 
 

15.2. For the financial year 2018/19 a drawdown of £102,300 will come from the 
Community Safety Reserve in addition to the service budget of £296,300 to 
meet the increased costs of providing a more resilient service.  
 

15.3. Growth of £15,000 has been approved for the financial year 2018/19 to cover 
the cost for London Resilience that each London Borough pays to London 
Fire Brigade to coordinate emergency preparedness across London. The cost 
for 2017/18 has been covered by underspend in the Registration Services 
budget. 
 

15.4. The Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) were responsible for 
making a Bellwin claim to the then CLG covering the period between the 
incident until 12 July 2018. The Council claimed £40,500 from RBKC which 
will be claimed by RBKC as part of their Bellwin claim. 
 

15.5. In addition, the Council incurred costs which were ongoing past the 12 July 
2018 Bellwin cut-off date relating to ongoing relief, social work support, and 
housing support. Where expenditure was incurred only as a response to 
Grenfell these costs can be claimed from RBKC. In 2017/18 the total 
expenditure claimed, in addition to the Bellwin claim above, was £278,700. 
Furthermore, some costs in relation to Children’s Commissioning shared 
services staff who worked on the relief effort were charged to RBKC as part of 
the Council’s S113 agreement with RBKC and WCC. 
 

15.6. These reimbursable costs did not include the Council’s normal staff costs 
where officers may have been diverted from their normal work in providing 
mutual aid to RBKC. Under the London Local Authorities Mutual Aid 
Memorandum of Understanding these costs were irrecoverable up to a value 
of £100,000 and therefore absorbed by the Council. 
 

15.7. Implications verified/completed by: Lucy Varenne Finance Manager 
Environment Services, tel. 020 7341 5777 and Emily Hill Head of Corporate 
Finance, tel. 020 8753 3145. 
 

16. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 

16.1 Small and medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs) often suffer disproportionately 
from disruptions of all kinds, including bigger emergencies, because many 

Page 21



 

 

haven’t realised the impact to their business and their wider markets from 
disruption.  Understanding the importance of business continuity and getting it 
right, early, means they can be up and running again quickly after an incident 
and the quicker whole communities can recover. 

 
16.2 Consideration in forward plans will be given to the following points: 

• Specific measures and plans will the Council put in place to support 
             local businesses – communications, relevant stakeholder engagement,  
             clear response targets, hardship support, etc. 

• How will impact be measured and continuous improvement ensured 
• Evidence of any prior learning feeding into the policy 
• Specific additional processes to be considered when dealing with SME 
and micro businesses (as their needs are often more acute and they do not 
have the support structures and resources that many large businesses do) 

 
16.3 Implications verified/completed by: Albena Karameros, Economic 

Development Team, tel. 020 7938 8583. 
 
17. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
17.1 Carrying out risk assessments and completing emergency plans and business 

continuity arrangements will help minimising any disruptions caused to the 
services and the community in case of an emergency.  

 
17.2. Emergency planning can help the Council manage its budget and minimise 

any overspend in case of an emergency. 
 
17.3. Implications verified/completed by: Andra Ulianov, Procurement Consultant, 

tel. 020 8753 2284.  
 
18. IT IMPLICATIONS  

 
18.1. The information which is required to effectively manage an emergency 

necessarily includes sensitive information about vulnerable adults and 
children. All services will have existing protocols on how that information is 
managed during the emergency. This personal information is held largely in 
the key business applications. 

 
18.2. All departments are working towards compliance with the new General Data 

Protection Regulation (GDPR) which goes live on 25th May 2018. As part of 
that programme, it is recommended that departments review their Privacy 
Impact Assessments to ensure appropriate protocols are in place. 

 
18.3  Implications completed by Veronica Barella, interim Chief Information Officer, 

tel. 020 8753 2927. 
 

19. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

19.1. Our approach to improving the lives of our residents is unique through 
building personal, economic and community cohesion and resilience. If an 

Page 22



 

 

emergency happens, we make sure services are ready to respond and work 
together to help minimise its impact. Our Emergency Planning and Business 
Continuity response requirements contribute to this and are vital to 
maintaining a safe and resilient environment for the local community, those 
most vulnerable in our local area and businesses and visitors.  

 
19.2. We recognise that failure to have an effective and efficient Emergency 

Planning and Business Continuity Service may severely impact on the safety 
and welfare of people, continuity of services, physical assets, information we 
process, finance, the built and natural environment and the reputation of the 
Council, Members and Officers.  

 
19.3. The Council’s Corporate Strategic Risk Register has for some time clearly 

established Business Resilience as a significant risk through which decisions 
are made on by the Strategic Leadership on our risk appetite, mitigations and 
actions required to reduce risks. These are monitored periodically by a core 
team of Officers, including the Council’s Risk Manager, a former UK Risk 
Manager of the year for the Association of Local Authority Risk Managers. 
The Council’s Service Resilience Group as it is known provides assurance to 
Management of the Council’s planning, reporting and legal compliance 
requirements. The past year saw a significant escalation of risks and threats, 
including the Council’s response to the Grenfell fire in the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea also to new and emerging Cyber Risk threats, 
managing Supply Chain risks and our response to an act of terrorism within 
our Borough. 
 

19.4. Business continuity is therefore intrinsically important to safeguarding the 
Council’s operations. It is a process that helps manage our risks to ensure the 
smooth running of the Council on any aspect of delivery of a service, making 
sure that the business and our community can continue in the event of 
disruption. Business continuity plans and planning are the formal response 
plans to address the most critical risks identified within the Council. The 
Council meets its statutory obligations for Business Continuity as defined 
under the Civil Contingencies Act by; 

 
• assessing both ‘external’ risks (emergencies) and ‘internal’ (business) 
risks; 
• having plans which are generic or those which deal with hazards or 
sites; 
• having clear procedures for invoking the business continuity plan; 
• providing training in implementing plans, arrange exercises to test 
plans, reviewing them and keeping them up to date; 
• horizon scanning. 
 

19.5. The following types of business continuity risks which the Council prepares for 
and for which formal plans are appropriate: 
 

• loss of part or denial of access to a key building - fire/flood; 
• loss of key staff; 
• loss of a partner or key service provider;  

Page 23



 

 

• technological failure, where new risks are constantly emerging as 
access to services grow globally through, for example, Internet use; 

• terrorism;  
• financial volatility in banking or in commercial markets; 
• loss of essential services; 
• transport infrastructure failure;  
• weather related events;  
• serious health epidemic/multiple fatalities; 
• fuel shortages. 
 

19.6. Close contact is maintained both internally across Emergency Planning, 
Business Continuity, Risk Management, Procurement and Information 
Management functions and with those responsible for maintaining regional 
emergency response plans so that the list of risks is up to date and plans are 
adapted to deal with latest risks e.g. cyber related risks are reviewed using 
information from the National Cyber Security Centre and Supply Chain issues 
are monitored using information from Ratings Agencies and monitoring of 
risks in the Financial Markets. Community risk registers, such as those 
maintained by the London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority and local 
resilience forums, are referred to when preparing and updating response 
plans. 

 
19.7. IT disaster recovery is also a highly specialised area of risk with the focus on 

recovery of ICT systems following a catastrophic event, such as those 
outlined above at 19.3, but also encompassing other catastrophic risks like 
those above which could lead to significant data loss or loss of facilities. As 
dependence on digital and more mobile technology increases, the potential 
for disruption is rising exponentially. Risks are becoming more complex and 
more connected, and it is no longer just major organisations that are at risk, 
events can happen anywhere, at any time. 

 
19.8. In rising to these challenges, the Council undertook an extensive review of its 

Emergency Planning and Business Continuity arrangements.  An awareness 
programme of communications, presentations and workshops was 
undertaken to increase overall knowledge of Business Continuity Risk 
Management across services. These covered recent Business Continuity 
incidents and exercises obtaining feedback and actions from these to further 
refine plans.  
 

19.9. Implications verified by: Michael Sloniowski Risk Manager, tel. 020 8753 
2587, mobile 07768 252703. 

 
20. OTHER IMPLICATIONS PARAGRAPHS 
 
20.1. In the wake of a terrorist attack in the United Kingdom, London Local Authority 

Prevent teams undertake community tensions monitoring and increase 
community engagement efforts. As Chair of the London Prevent Network, the 
H&F Prevent Coordinator is the London lead for this process. In this capacity, 
the H&F team produces the Local Authority Prevent Incident Response and 
Activity Monitor for London and engages with London Resilience. The Home 

Page 24



 

 

Office have confirmed funding for the H&F Prevent team staff for 2018/19 and 
2019/20.  

 
20.2. Implications verified/completed by: Pinakin Patel, LBHF Prevent Coordinator, 

tel: 0208 753 5727. 
 
20. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

 n/a 
 

  

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 – Recommendations from the Consultative Report on H&F Council’s 
Emergency Response to Major Incidents in June and September 2017  
Appendix 2 – Emergency Planning actions taken 2017/18 
Appendix 3 – Emergency Planning work plan 2018-2019 
 
  

Page 25



 

 

APPENDIX 1  
 
The Consultative Report on H&F Council’s Emergency Response to Major 
Incidents in June and September 2017 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 In October 2017, following two major incidents that required an emergency 

response from H&F Council – the Grenfell Tower fire in June and the Parsons 
Green tube terrorist attack in September - a review was conducted into the 
Council’s handling of the events. 

 
1.2 The review resulted in a draft consultative report which was discussed at the 

Audit, Pension and Standards Committee and Finance and Delivery Policy 
and Accountability Committee (PAC) in December 2017 and the Economic 
Regeneration, Housing and the Arts PAC, Children and Education PAC, 
Community Safety, Environment and Residents’ Services PAC and Health, 
Adult Social Care and Social Inclusion PAC in January 2018.  It was also 
discussed at the H&F Youth Council in March.  The discussions at each of 
these forums led to the further development and refinement of the report’s 
original recommendations. 

 
1.3 This appendix identifies the recommendations that were received as part of 

the consultation process. 
 
2. Command and Control 
 
Recommendations for further action: 
 
• The circulation list for the Weekly Orders should be expanded and subject to 

a regular review, co-ordinated by the Chief Executive’s office and Human 
Resources, to ensure that all officers who may need to respond to an 
emergency are included in its circulation. 

 
• In the event of a disaster of the magnitude of the Grenfell fire there may be a 

need for a two-tier daily planning briefing – strategic and operational. 
 
• That the expectations from membership of a Service Resilience Group be 

clearly set out and communicated to attendees and relevant Directors/Heads 
of Service. 

 
• That the command and control and briefing arrangements should be built into 

emergency planning training and exercising. 
 
• Accurate records of staff deployed should be kept from the start of a 
response. 
 
• Continued shared services and any new partnerships or shared arrangements 

should be clear about ‘first call’ arrangements of H&F and H&F services to 
limit competing calls and under capacity at critical times of an emergency. 

Page 26



 

 

 
3. Communications 
 
Recommendations for action 
 
• All services should receive guidance on how to manage large-scale 

information demand in their emergency plans. 
 
• A social media strategy, including the use of platforms like Next Door, should 

be prepared for an emergency incident communications response. 
 
• Alternative arrangements should be identified for communicating with 

residents to enable communications to continue if one or more of the mobile 
phone system, internet or the council website failed during an incident. 

 
• Single Points of Contact (SPOC) should be identified to deal with different 

types of communication enquiries in an emergency (e.g. media enquiries, 
requests from the emergency services, central government etc). This should 
be built into procedures, training and exercising. 

 
• Member briefings and training must make it clear who to contact in the event 

of an emergency so councillors can give information and feedback from the 
ground. 

 
• All staff should be informed of the emergency contact number. 
 
• A pre-prepared update banner message should be put on the front page of 

the H&F Council website in the event of an incident. 
 
4. Emergency planning 
 
Recommendations for further action 
 
• A review should be undertaken of the best means of registering and storing 

records of people displaced to a rest centre in an emergency incident. 
 
• Consideration should be given to negotiating agreements with chemists, 

opticians, dentists and other local stores and suppliers to secure the 
emergency provision of essentials for any displaced residents in the event of 
a major incident.   

 
• The list of potential premises in H&F for emergency use as rest centres 

should be updated, along with contact details for keyholders and means of 
access. 

 
• Work should be undertaken to identify premises in H&F borough that might be 

used to provide emergency accommodation. 
 

Page 27



 

 

• Emergency Planning should review the corporate emergency planning 
response arrangements, structure and responsibilities in the event of an 
emergency.  

 
• Additional emergency response and planning training should be provided for 

all senior staff and councillors.  
 
• Media training should be provided for councillors. 
 
• Information on emergency planning should be included as part of staff and 

councillor induction training. 
 
• High visibility jackets and personalised name badges should be supplied to all 

members of the strategic leadership team. 
 
• An annual Emergency Planning Report should be presented to Cabinet (in 

addition to any other papers required during the year) covering: 
 

1. Emergency planning progress across the Council 
2. Overview of emergency staffing levels 
3. Overview of training and exercising programmes and up-take. 

 
• Further work should be undertaken on involving neighbouring boroughs 

affected by a large-scale incident including their role as part of London-wide 
responses, in order that the role of ‘bystander’ boroughs is better utilised.   

 
• It is noted that an independent peer challenge of London’s regional resilience 

procedures has been commissioned by London Councils on behalf of London 
Local Government.  

 
5. Housing 
 
Recommendations for further action 
 
• H&F Council should agree a lettings policy that assures that any social 

housing tenant who is displaced by an incident of this scale will retain their 
rights to permanent rehousing in the borough, irrespective of any acceptance 
of an offer of temporary accommodation from another borough. 

 
• Cross-borough agreements should be laid down to ensure that tenants’ rights 

to permanent accommodation in their borough of origin are not adversely 
affected by the allocation of temporary accommodation in another borough 
where this is due to an emergency incident causing displacement from the 
home borough. 

 
• A data-sharing protocol should be drawn up to ensure that information on the 

needs of displaced residents from one borough can be shared with a 
neighbouring borough that is temporarily accommodating those families and 
individuals. 

 

Page 28



 

 

• Further attempts should be made to secure business accounts with other 
hotels located in the borough. 

 
• Arrangements for corporate credit cards and their distribution within services 

should be considered within emergency plans.  
 
• The Council should set out in advance the range of outreach support and 

services that could be available to families and individuals placed in 
temporary accommodation in and outside of the borough because of a major 
incident 

 
• Clear lists and contact details for all residents placed in temporary 

accommodation following an evacuation should be available and updated as 
necessary to key staff. 

 
6. Welfare 
 
Recommendations for further action 
 
• A process should be established to negotiate agreements with supermarkets 

and restaurants to provide food and meals to the victims and evacuees of 
future incidents, perhaps by way of a voucher scheme administered by the 
Council or local charities. 

 
• The offer of counselling to all staff involved in the Grenfell fire relief effort 

should be followed up over the coming weeks and months. 
 
• Service commissioners with responsibility for mental health services should 

consider how access to counselling services for non-council staff who 
volunteer to be emergency responders could be made available, particularly 
where the Council funds counselling services in the community. 

 
• Service commissioners with responsibility for mental health services should 

work with NHS partners to develop local plans to provide specialist support for 
trauma and post-traumatic stress disorder. 

 
• Work should be undertaken with local NHS services to develop future plans to 

ensure that access to medication can be quickly provided to those affected by 
emergencies, such as those in rest centres or emergency accommodation.   

 
• The Council should investigate whether 24-hour pharmacies can provide 

support in an incident where people require prescriptions in a rest centre.  
 
7. Donations Management 
 
Recommendations for action 
 
• A donation management protocol should be drawn up and agreed by the 

council in discussion with community partners to help manage all aspects of 
donation management.  The plan should form part of the Council’s emergency 

Page 29



 

 

management plan procedures.  It should include a communications plan to 
ensure that, in the event of a future major incident, donors are well informed 
about the type of donations needed and where donations should be taken.  
The protocol should guide organisers on how to stack, store and allocate 
donations and engage volunteers and clarify to donors what will happen to 
their gift once received. 

 
• Specific council staff should be nominated to be ‘Donations Managers’ in the 

event of any future incidents and briefed accordingly. 
 
8. Training 
 
Action to be taken 
 
• Further emergency responders training to be provided to more staff. 
 
• Wider staff awareness training or guidance to be provided on H&Fs 

emergency management plan and procedures. 
 
• There will be at least eight trained officers to cover each of the key roles of 

Duty Silver (currently 8 trained officers), Welfare Bronze (currently 8 trained 
officers) and Rest Centre Manager (currently 8 trained officers). 

 
Recommendations for further action 
 
• Training on emergency response to be provided to community responders, 

TRAs and residents.  
 
• Crisis management training should be provided for directors, cabinet 

members, shadow cabinet members and ward councillors, on a prioritised 
basis.  

 
• Media training should be provided for councillors.  
 
9. Work with Communities, Local Agencies and Businesses 
 
Recommendations for action 
 
• The proposals that came forward from the hackathon should be progressed – 

building up contact lists with details of possible roles and offers of available 
support from local organisations and businesses. 

 
• Training should be provided for community outreach responders. 
 
• A database of volunteers should be considered. 
 
• Where displaced individuals are to be relocated in new communities, advance 

information and reassurance should be given to those within the host 
community. 

 

Page 30



 

 

• Service level agreements with funded organisations should be amended to 
allocate duties and responsibilities for assisting in an emergency.   

 
 
 
10. Regional and National Implications 
 
Recommendations for action 
 
• An ask that new guidance is produced by national government, the LGA and 

London Councils on key areas of learning from the Grenfell fire. 
 
• It is noted that an independent peer challenge of London’s regional resilience 

procedures has been commissioned by London Councils, on behalf of London 
local government. 

 
  

Page 31



 

 

APPENDIX 2 
 
Emergency Planning actions taken 2017/18 
 
Governance 
 
• The circulation of the Weekly Orders has been reviewed and expanded. 
 
• The council’s Emergency Plan has been updated to include: 
 

• Role of Members 
• Change of threat level 
• Updated responsibilities of Director roles  
• Reviewed and updated contacts 
• Reviewed and updated aide memoires 

 
• The Service Resilience Group (SRG) terms of reference and membership has 

been refreshed. 
 
• Services business continuity plans have been updated and tested and 

oversight improved. 
 
• An annual Emergency Planning Report, has been prepared and will be 

presented to the Members (in addition to any other papers required during the 
year) covering: 

 
1. Emergency planning progress across the Council 
2. Overview of emergency staffing levels 
3. Overview of training and exercising programmes and up-take 

 
• Twice yearly reporting to SLT assurance group has been introduced, in a 

dashboard format that reflects the responsibilities of each Department, their 
contribution to the Council’s overall state of readiness and the work that is 
being done centrally. 

 
• The Chief Executive has attended training events and participated in a 

structured exercise programme for London Golds provided by LAP 
 
• Chief Executive has nominated five members of the strategic leadership team, 

to act as resilience to the Council Gold role, covering periods of absence from 
the borough or taking over a shift pattern, established in the event of an 
incident. 

 
• The template meeting agendas for both response and recovery are reviewed 

to reflect more clearly the borough’s commitment to supporting the emergency 
services and its resident community. 

 
• The role of Members has been included in the briefing for new Members and 

Member training accompanied by policies and procedures to ensure Members 
are appropriately briefed during incidents in the borough. 

Page 32



 

 

 
• A Property Compliance Task Force, chaired by the Chief Executive, has been 

set up to ensure that H&F Council is meeting its full responsibilities as a 
landlord. 

 
• Fire safety checks have been completed on all 71 H&F high-rise tower blocks 

(a tower block is a communal residential building with more than 6 storeys) 
and all blocks of five or less storeys 

 
• Fire Safety Plus handbooks have been issued to H&F Council residents, 

setting out the H&F offer of free safety checks for all homes and free 
replacement appliances and plug adaptors. 

 
• Specifications for works to install sprinklers in all high-rise blocks, where this 

would improve safety, have been drawn up. 
 
• A residents’ advisory group on fire safety is being set up to work with the 

Council on improvement plans. 
 
Emergency Response Arrangements 
 
• Additional H&F rest centre equipment has been purchased and is stored at 

Bagley’s Lane depot in Fulham.  There are enough beds and bedding for 145 
people with provisions for a further 80 stored nearby.  Emergency planning 
equipment is also stored in the Courtyard Room storage cupboard in 
Hammersmith Town Hall. 

 
• Tow bars have been added to new vehicles to ensure that they can transport 

trailers with bedding quickly to wherever they need to be – there had 
previously been only one vehicle with a tow bar.   

 
• Additional lanyards and high visibility jackets have been purchased and will be 

worn by council emergency responders at an incident. 
 
• Additional corporate credit cards have been issued to key individuals to 

ensure access to equipment and purchases in the event of an emergency. 
Credit limits have been increased to ensure we can cover necessary 
expenditure in an emergency.  

 
• Concierge staff have been increased at the Edward Woods Estate and are 

now located in all three tower blocks of the estate. 
 
• The housing repairs emergency response service has been reviewed and 

enhanced and a new emergency response policy put in place.   
 
• An enhanced counselling service has been put in place for H&F staff. 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



 

 

 
Gold, Silver, Bronze 
 
• All members of Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) nominated to deputise as 

Gold in absence of Chief Executive and have been provided training.  
 
• Silver rota has been refreshed with 8 officers now trained and on the rota to 

cover emergency response 24 hours, 365 days a year. 
 
• Bronze rotas, Welfare and Rest Centre refreshed with 8 officers on each rota 

trained to cover emergency response 24 hours, 365 days a year. 
 
Communications 
 
• Updated media messages have been prepared for publication in case of 

emergencies to be added to Council website as required.  
 
• Staff emergency line updated and reminders sent to all staff that the line will 

be used to provide information in emergencies or service disruption. 
 
• Departmental single points of contact identified for communications in an 

emergency. 
 
Business Continuity 
 
• Review and refresh of Service Resilience Group with Directors taking a core 

role. 
 
• Business Continuity Plan reviewed and updated. 
 
• All services P1-P4 reviewed with a service continuity plan. Previously only P1 

and P2 services had plans.  
 
• Business Continuity “Moving On” presentation to SLT. 
 
• “Re-Forming the Road to Resilience” presentation to obtain Directors 

commitment for programme of BC work  
 
• Drop in sessions to discuss all matters regarding Business Continuity and 

building Resilience for all BC Champions. 
 
• Business Continuity workshops for Client Management and Housing. Property 

Services and Children’s Services. 
 
Training & Exercising 
 
• Strategic Leadership Team emergency planning training and briefing session 

held in December 2017. Further training session with SLT in February 2018. 
 

Page 34



 

 

• Participated in Exercise Safer City March 2018. A London wide exercise to 
test communication and collaboration with London Local Authority Gold and 
London Local Authority Command Centre.  

 
• Rest Centre Officer training – 15 new officers trained  
 
• CHS training on Council responsibilities and command and control  
 
• Borough Emergency Control Centre officer training – 7 new officers trained  
 
• Housing training on Council responsibilities and command and control  
 
• Briefing for Leader and Deputy Leader  
 
 
Building Resilient Communities 
 
• A hackathon event, ‘Stronger Together: Building Community Resilience’, has 

been held with representatives of local businesses, local agencies and 
community groups.  (A hackathon is an event with focussed sessions that 
brings stakeholders together to discuss complex problems and come up with 
possible solutions.) 

 
• Emergency Response internet site launched to provide community 

organisations and businesses information on emergency planning and 
business continuity. 

 

Page 35



 

 

Appendix 3 – Emergency services workplan 

Emergency Services Workplan 2018/2019 
 
INTRODUCTION 

Building Community Resilience is a priority for H&F to ensure our communities are prepared and can respond and recover quickly 

in times of emergency. We want to ensure that our communities are able to help themselves during an emergency in a way that 

complements emergency services and reduces the impact of an emergency on our community both in the short and long term. 

H&F’s Strategic Priorities for any emergency are to:  

• provide support to incident responding agencies as required  

• support the vulnerable  

• maintain continuity of council service provision  

• To provide assistance and information to Hammersmith and Fulham’s businesses and communities  

• provide community leadership  

• and assist the return to normality’   

H&F’s Strategic Priorities for recovery from an emergency are to:  

a) Provide strong and visible leadership during the recovery phase 

b) To support the health and welfare of the borough’s communities 

c) To assist in the restoration of the built and natural environment   

d) Assist communities and business to return to normality 

e) To monitor financial matters and pursue funding and other assistance  

P
age 36



 

 

GOVERNANCE 

 Action Action that can be taken to 
improve and/or resolve the 
issue 

By whom By when RAG 

1 An annual Emergency Planning Report, 
is presented to the Cabinet  

Report presented to Cabinet 
4th June 2018 

Head of Emergency 
Services 

June 2018 Green 

2 Twice yearly reporting to SLT Dashboard of Emergency 
Planning and Business 
Continuity updates, training, 
exercises and incidents to be 
presented to SLT Assurance 
twice a year.  

Head of Emergency 
Services 

April and 
October 
2018 

Green 

EMERGENCY RESPONSE ARRANGEMENTS 

3 Plans and documents to be moved 

into SharePoint Emergency Planning 

& Business Continuity site with 

access provided to response staff and 

others as required 

 

 

 

 

SharePoint site to be updated 
with all plans and documents 
relating to Emergency 
Planning and Business 
Continuity 
 
Site to be shared with 
emergency responders and 
other officers as required. 
 
Site to be maintained and 
updated throughout the year 

Emergency Planning 
Manager/Officer 

May 2018 Amber 

4 Contacts are reviewed twice yearly and 

when changes in staffing occur.  

 

Liaison between Emergency 
Planning Team and Chief 
Executive’s Office to identify 
changes in staff and update 
plan 

Emergency Planning 
Manager and Chief 
Executive’s Office 

April and 
October 
2018 

Green 

P
age 37



 

 

5 The Council takes full part in the 

standardisation project led by London 

Resilience 

 

Attend standardisation 
workshops held by London 
Resilience  
 
Implement changes to the 
relevant plans and guidance 
documents as standards are 
agreed by Local Authority 
Panel 

Emergency Planning 
Manager/Officer 

April 2018 
 
 
 
Ongoing 

Green 
 
 
 
Amber 
 

 Action Action that can be taken to 
improve and/or resolve the 
issue 

By whom By when RAG 

6 Borough Emergency Control Centre 

location to be reviewed and space 

identified within the Hammersmith Town 

Hall refurbishment 

Review of current BECC in 
room 317 to be reviewed. 
Space identified in town hall as 
an alternative location and 
equipment provided to run a 
BECC during an emergency 
response 

Emergency Planning 
Manager and Corporate 
Property 

June 2018 Amber 

7 All departments to consider rotas of staff 

to be able to respond to incidents.  

Department management 
teams to identify suitable staff 
to form a call out rota (where 
they do not already exist) to 
respond to emergency 
incidents 

Directors June 2018 Amber 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 38



 

 

 

BUSINESS CONTINUITY 

8 Procurement of Business Continuity 

software, which will allow a full business 

impact assessment and mass messaging 

of staff  

Procurement exercise and 
tender for applicable software 
to be completed. 
 
Update of continuity plans into 
system across the Council. 
 
Training provided to key users 
who will maintain continuity 
reports  

Business Continuity 
Manager and IT 
 
Business Continuity 
Manager and BC 
Department Champions 
 
Business Continuity 
Manager and Supplier 

September 
2018 

Amber 

9 Sample and review continuity plans Dip samples of continuity plans 
to be reviewed and tested 
throughout the year. Either via 
live response or table top 
exercises 

Business Continuity 
Manager and departmental 
leads 

March 
2019 

Amber 

10 Review our critical supplier service 

continuity plans 

Review of service continuity 
plans specifically on critical 
suppliers and plans in place for 
failure of a supplier and the 
supplier’s own plans 

Business Continuity 
Manager and contract 
managers 

March 
2019 

Amber 

11 Review Business Continuity Strategy  Corporate Business Continuity 
Strategy to be reviewed in line 
with reviewed plans and risks 
 
 

Business Continuity 
Manager 

December 
2018 

Amber 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 39



 

 

TRAINING AND EXERCISING 

12 Conduct a Mass Fatalities exercise to 

test Coroner, Mortuary and liaison with 

agencies including Heathrow 

Live Mass Fatalities exercise 
at Heathrow airport. Mass 
Fatalities Group activated as 
part of exercise with Senior 
Coroner as chair.  

Emergency 
Planning/Coroner/Mortuary 

May 2018 Green 

13 Carry out a Disaster Mortuary Exercise Exercise with UKDVI to train 
new officers in disaster victim 
identification and test disaster 
mortuary set up  

Emergency 
Planning/Mortuary 

May 2018 Green 

14 Carry out a Community Resilience 

Exercise  

Conduct a Community 
Resilience exercise with 
voluntary organisations and 
business to increase liaison 
between Council and 
organisations in emergency 
response. 

Emergency Planning 
Manager/Officer 

July 2018 Green 

15 Train more Loggists Loggist training for increased 
pool of staff across the Council 
capable of acting as a loggist 
in an emergency response 

Head of Emergency 
Services/Emergency 
Planning Manager 

First 
tranche 
May 
 
Sessions 
ongoing 
throughout 
year 

Green 

16 Carry out a Surface Flooding exercise Exercise with partner agencies 
to test surface flooding plan  

Emergency Planning 
Manager/Officer 

September 
2018 

Amber 

P
age 40



 

 

17 Ensure Members understand their role in 

responding to emergencies 

 

 

 

 

Members induction following 
elections 
 
 
Deliver a specific emergency 
planning session for members 

Head of Emergency 
Services 
 
 
Head of Emergency 
Services 

June 2018 
 
 
 
July 2018 

Amber 

RESILIENT COMMUNITIES 

18 Conduct a skills audit of community 

organisations and businesses 

Skills audit of community 
organisations and businesses 
in borough to identify what 
could be provided in an 
emergency.  
 
Liaison with organisations to 
identify their skills, personnel 
and equipment that could be 
utilised in an emergency, 
 
Formalise agreements with 
organisations as to who, how, 
when and where they can be 
used in emergency response 

Emergency Planning 
Officer 

June 2018 
 
 
 
 
June 2018 
 
 
 
 
September 
2018 

Amber 

19 Carry out a Community Resilience 

Exercise and training session   

  

Conduct a Community 
Resilience exercise with 
voluntary organisations and 
business to increase liaison 
between Council and 
organisations in emergency 
response. 

Emergency Planning Team July 2018 Green 

 

P
age 41



 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. In order to fulfil the requirements of the agreement, the council is required to 

construct the three new crossovers. This report seeks approval to commission 
utility lowering works and construct 3 no. vehicle access points outside the 
former BBC Television Centre on Wood Lane W12.  Full funding for these 
works is provided through the S106 agreement put in place as part of the 
planning permission for the re-development of the site. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. To approve the works costs for lowering of the statutory undertaker apparatus 

(i.e. gas, electric, water, telecom etc. services) and the construction of three 
permanent vehicle access points to the former BBC Television Centre, Wood 
Lane, W12 to council standards.  
 

2.2. To directly award a works contract for lowering of services to Reach Active 
Limited specialist contractor in this field, who will co-ordinate all the statutory 
diversions with the companies and carryout all of the construction works at a 
cost of £219,585. 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 
 
CABINET 

i.  
4 JUNE 2018 

 

 
CONSTRUCTION OF VEHICLE ACCESS POINTS OUTSIDE THE FORMER BBC 
TELEVISION CENTRE SITE 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for the Environment - Councillor Wesley Harcourt 
 

Open Report 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Other services consulted: None. 
 

Wards Affected:  Shepherd’s Bush Green and College Park and Old Oak 
 

Accountable Director:  Mahmood Siddiqi – Bi-borough Director Highways & Parks 
 

Report Author:  Michael Masella – 
Senior Engineer 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3082 
E-mail:  michael.masella@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 42

Agenda Item 5



 
2.3. To approve the waiver of the Council’s contract standing orders in relation to 

the direct award of the contract to Reach Active Limited for the reasons set 
out in paragraph 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4 below. 
 

2.4. To approve the construction of the highway works will be carried out by FM 
Conway Ltd as the Council’s framework contractor. 
 

2.5. To include the scheme within the capital programme, at an estimated total 
cost of £530,102, with funding from a section 106 contribution. 

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

 
3.1. The former BBC Television Centre site has undergone a comprehensive 

redevelopment of the site to provide residential units with a range of land 
uses. Temporary vehicle access points were constructed in November 2015. 
The new residential units are being occupied and a new hotel will be opening 
very shortly. Therefore, there is an urgent need to provide permanent 
vehicular access from the public highway, on the west side of Wood Lane. 

 
3.2. Rather than commissioning each of the statutory undertakers individually, 

awaiting their programmes and individual excavations of the public highway. A 
direct award of the works to Reach Active Limited is recommended because 
of the specialist nature and urgency of the works. Reach Active Ltd is an 
approved supplier and has previous experience of working in the borough on 
other projects and have an established relationship with the Council’s Network 
Management Team. 

 
3.3. The limited site conditions and the need to construct the accesses as quickly 

as possible mean that it is not practical to arrange for individual statutory 
undertakers to lower their services independently. Reach Active Ltd.’s 
extensive knowledge of the development and site conditions will allow for all 
of the services to be lowered in one operation. Previous experience 
demonstrates this working arrangement reduces the overall cost and the 
inconvenience to the public by reducing the number of individual excavations. 

 
4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

 
4.1. In 2015 planning permission was granted to redevelop the former BBC 

Television Centre site on the western side of Wood Lane (reference 
2014/02531/COMB).  
 

4.2. This included the demolition of parts of the former BBC Television Centre, 
associated buildings and structures (including boundary walls) to facilitate 
comprehensive phased redevelopment of the site to provide up to 943 
residential units with a range of land uses. 
 

4.3. The Heads of Terms set out in the S106 agreement included highway 
improvements (Area 1 - Wood Lane outside the former BBC Television 
Centre). 

Page 43



 
4.4. The highway works include the removal of three temporary industrial type 

vehicle access points, lowering of all affected statutory undertaker apparatus 
(i.e. gas, electric, water, telecoms etc. services). 
 

4.5. The three crossovers are located in an area of Wood Lane that is heavily 
congested with statutory undertaker’s services. The Council is seeking to 
appoint Reach Active Limited as a specialist utility contractor to undertake all 
activities relating to the diversion of these services to enable construction of 
the vehicle access points. This will include project management and co-
ordination with individual utility companies as well as undertaking all of the 
necessary excavation, lowering or slewing of affected utility infrastructure and 
subsequent reinstatement. 
 

4.6. The three new permanent vehicle access points will be constructed to the 
Council’s streetscape design guide and repave the footway 5 metres either 
side of each access point in York stone. 

 
5. CONSULTATION 

 
5.1. A consultation has been conducted as part of a planning application process 

and permission has been granted for the development. 
 

6. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

6.1. The Council has had regard to its public sector equality duty contained in 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.  Hammersmith and Fulham Action on 
Disability (AOD) will be consulted on the proposed highway works.  It is not 
anticipated that there will be any negative impacts on any other groups with 
protected characteristics. 

 
6.2. Implications verified/completed by: Peter Smith, Head of Policy & Strategy, 

tel. 020 8753 2206. 
 
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1. The terms of the 2015 Agreement (reference 2014/02531/COMB) (Schedule 

3) define the nature of the highway works for the purposes of Area 1 and Area 
2 of the development known as the “Area 1 and Area 2 highway works”. It is 
noted that The works subject to the provisions of this report are discussed at 
paragraphs 4.4 and 4.6 above and fall within the scope of the definition and 
are therefore permitted. 
 

7.2. In accordance with clause 2 of Schedule 10 of the 2015 Agreement the 
Council covenants to carry out the highways works, in a timely manner and in 
the terms expressed but must first receive the Owners written notice. Upon 
completion of the works the Council must issue the Owner with a certificate of 
substantial completion as soon as reasonably practicable.   
 

Page 44



7.3. The 2015 Agreement provides a mechanism whereby the cost of the highway 
works is to be covered by a highway works budget in the sum of £2,900.000. 
It is noted that the estimated costs of these highway works of £530,102.00 fall 
within this amount. However, Cabinet is advised that there is provision in the 
2015 Agreement which allows the Council to effectively charge the Owner 
where the costs of those works exceed the total costs of the highway works 
budget by way of a shortfall, provided, that the Council furnishes the Owner 
with appropriate evidence justifying the additional expenditure incurred.   
 

7.4. The Owner has agreed to provide an indemnity to the Council against all 
claims under Part I and Part II of the Land Compensation Act 1973 in respect 
of the Council undertaking the highways works subject to applying any monies 
(if any) from the highway works budget in the first instance so the Council is 
protected from any third-party claims. 
 

7.5. In the case of a dispute between the parties concerning the highway works or 
any other aspect of the 2015 Agreement the parties are encouraged to settle 
the dispute between themselves under clause 10. This is to be done at local 
level first with the appointment of an expert where agreement cannot be 
reached. This procedure may involve a costs implication to the Council, which 
is to be determined by the appointed expert.    
 

7.6. Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 allows a developer to carry out works 
to the public highway. This is generally necessary where planning permission 
has been granted for a development that requires improvements to, or 
changes to, public highways which includes the highway works detailed 
above.  
 

7.7. Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 grants Council’s a General Power of 
Competence whereby a Local Authority has power to do anything that 
individuals generally may do, including the use of funds received from 
planning obligations to seek approval to commission utility lowering works and 
the construction of three new vehicle access points outside the former BBC 
Television Centre site. This power can be used even if legislation already 
exists that allows a Local Authority to do something. However, the General 
Power of Competence does not enable a Local Authority to do anything which 
it is unable to do by virtue of a pre-commencement limitation. The Council is 
not aware of any limitation or restriction in this case that would prevent the 
completion of the highway works in the circumstances as set out above.  
 

7.8. Any changes to on street parking places will be carried out in accordance with 
the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and the provisions of the Local 
Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996 
which includes advertising and a consultation process.  The combined Section 
106 (Town and Country Planning Act 1990)/Section 278 (Highways Act 1980) 
agreement will enable the Council to carry out the works on behalf of the 
developer. 
 

7.9. Implications verified/completed by: Horatio Chance, Senior Solicitor and 
Deputy Team Leader, tel. 020 8753 1863. 

Page 45



 
Legal Procurement implications 

 
7.10. It is noted that it is proposed to directly award a contract to Reach Active 

Limited at a value of £219,585. The value of these works falls below the 
threshold for full compliance with the Public Contract Regulations 2016 (the 
“Regulations”). Having not advertised the opportunity elsewhere, there is no 
obligation under Part 4 the Regulations to advertise the opportunity on 
Contracts Finder. However, the Council’s Contract Standing Orders (CSO 
10.2) require that works and construction related matters are either procured 
though an appropriate existing contract or framework or that the opportunity is 
listed on using the Council’s e-tendering system (CapitalEsourcing) and on 
Contracts Finder.  As this approach is not being taken a waiver of contracts 
standing order is required in accordance with CSO 3.1.  
 

7.11. Where the contract is valued at over £100k (as is the case here) the waiver 
should be given by the appropriate Cabinet Member and the Leader of the 
Council. A departmental record of the decision approving the waiver and the 
reason for it should be kept.  
 

7.12. The appointment of FM Conway Limited under the Council’s existing term 
contract is accordance with the Council’s contract standing orders.  
 

7.13. Implications completed by: Cath Tempest, Senior Solicitor (Contracts), tel. 
020 8753 2774. 
 

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1. The Council has received S106 funding from the developer Stanhope Plc 
which is to be used to fund these highway works. There are sufficient S106 
funds for these specific works, therefore there are no financial implications. 
 

8.2. The estimated costs of the works are as follows: 
 
Reach Active Ltd     £219,585.00 
Transport for London (link cable)           £2,500.00 
British Telecom          £3,105.00 
Vodafone          £4,000.00 
Colt           £9,490.00 
UKPN*        £57,146.00 
Verizon*        £38,717.00 
Vodafone*        £27,368.00 
Chroma Vision       £20,000.00 
 
 *Statutory undertakers estimate of additional equipment and /or supervision 
cost 
 
Installation of three new permanent industrial  £100,000.00 
standard granite sett vehicle access points 
to LBHF street-smart standards 

Page 46



       __________ 
Subtotal:      £481,910.00 
 
10% contingency:        £48,191.00 
       __________ 
Total costs      £530,102.00 
 

8.3. Implications verified/completed by: Gary Hannaway, Head of Finance, tel: 
0208 753 6071. 

 
9. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

 
9.1. The construction of three permanent vehicle access points will be carried out 

by the council’s term contractor FM Conway Ltd. Local businesses will have 
been consulted via the planning process. FM Conway Ltd. is already working 
with the Economic Development Team to identify and maximise any business 
opportunities for local SMEs and employment and skills opportunities for local 
residents. 
 

9.2. Reach Active Limited is a specialist company which will be carrying out the 
lowering of the statutory undertaker apparatus (i.e. gas, electric, water, etc. 
services) on behalf of the Council before FM Conway Ltd. can construct the 
new vehicle access points. The commissioning manager, Reach Active 
Limited and the Economic Development Team will explore the scope for 
additional business opportunities for local SMEs and employment and skills 
opportunities for local residents. 
 

9.3. Implications verified/completed by: Albena Karameros, Economic 
Development Team, tel. 020 7938 8583. 

 
10. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 There are no procurement related issues as the order is to be placed with FM 

Conway PLC (the council’s highway term contractor). 
 
10.2. Implications verified/completed by: Jem Kale, Head of Commercial 

Operations Executive Services, tel. 0208 753 2370. 
 

11. IT IMPLICATIONS  
 

11.1. There are no IT implications contained within this proposal.  
 

11.2. Implications completed by: Veronica Barella, interim Chief Information 
Officer, tel. 020 8753 2927. 

 
12. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
12.1. Works need to be undertaken to ensure there is appropriate access to the site 

following recent development of a hotel and residential units on the site. 
 

Page 47



12.2. Officers have identified a speciality utility contractor for the relocation of the 
statutory undertaker apparatus (i.e. gas, electric, water, etc. services) to 
mitigate the risk of damage or disruption in carrying out the works. 
 

12.3. Officers need to ensure that consultation with Hammersmith and Fulham 
Action on Disability (AOD) on the proposed highway works is completed 
before the work commences.  
 

12.4. Implications verified/completed by: David Hughes, Director of Audit, Fraud, 
Risk and Insurance, tel. 020 7361 2389. 

 
13. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

 None. 
 

  

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
Appendix A - Arup Drawing no_TVC-AR-X-XX-DR-C-8011 
Appendix B - Arup Drawing no_TVC-AR-X-XX-DR-C-8103 

Page 48



5 10 Metres0

Scale 1:250

TVC-AR-X-XX-DR-C-8011 C7

225696

Civil

1:250

For Construction

Proposed Kerbs

Plan Sheet 01

Television Centre

Whitewood (Ring) UK S.à.r.l.

13 Fitzroy Street

London W1T 4BQ

Tel +44(0)20 7636 1531 Fax +44(0)20 7580 3924

www.arup.com

J
:
\
2

2
5

0
0

0
\
2

2
5

6
9

6
-
0

0
 
B

B
C

\
1

1
_

I
L

G
_

D
r
a

w
i
n

g
s
\
0

2
_

D
r
a

w
i
n

g
s
\
T

V
C

-
A

R
-
X

-
X

X
-
D

R
-
C

-
8

0
1

1
.
d

w
g

 
 
3

 
J
u

l
 
2

0
1

7
 
1

0
:
4

8
:
5

7
 
 
i
d

:
 
0

C
9

5
4

5
7

1
-
6

A
1

8
-
4

7
E

9
-
8

3
3

1
-
6

6
B

C
B

9
D

0
6

4
2

4
 
 
t
o

m
.
h

o
s
k
i
n

s

A1

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N

Do not scale

Scale at A1

Job No

Discipline

Drawing No Issue

Job Title

Client

© Arup

Issue Date By Chkd Appd

Drawing Status

Design development - additional tender info

TMcDTHMR11/09/15C2

Issued for Construction

TMcDTHMR03/02/16C3

Issued for Construction - EW121/EW111

TMcDTHEE29/07/16C4

 C5 09/12/16  MR  TH  TH 

 Minor update outside generator room 

 Minor update at North Gate  

 TMcD  TH  EE 17/02/17 C6 

Minor Amendments to Upper Deck

 TH  TH  MR 30/06/17 C7 

C7

P
age 49



5 10 Metres0

Scale 1:250

TVC-AR-X-XX-DR-C-8103 C5

225696

Civil

1:250

For Construction

Highway Signs and Lines

Plan Sheet 03

Television Centre

Whitewood (Ring) UK S.à.r.l.

13 Fitzroy Street

London W1T 4BQ

Tel +44(0)20 7636 1531 Fax +44(0)20 7580 3924

www.arup.com

J
:
\
2

2
5

0
0

0
\
2

2
5

6
9

6
-
0

0
 
B

B
C

\
1

1
_

I
L

G
_

D
r
a

w
i
n

g
s
\
0

2
_

D
r
a

w
i
n

g
s
\
T

V
C

-
A

R
-
X

-
X

X
-
D

R
-
C

-
8

1
0

3
.
d

w
g

 
 
2

2
 
A

u
g

 
2

0
1

7
 
1

1
:
3

3
:
1

1
 
 
i
d

:
 
7

3
4

B
8

5
E

2
-
E

8
D

1
-
4

4
5

D
-
9

A
1

4
-
3

2
B

2
B

7
6

E
2

C
5

5
 
 
t
o

m
.
h

o
s
k
i
n

s

A1

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N

Do not scale

Scale at A1

Job No

Discipline

Drawing No Issue

Job Title

Client

© Arup

Issue Date By Chkd Appd

Drawing Status

Issued for Tender Addendum

TMcDTHJD15/06/15P3

Issued For Construction

TMcDTHMR10/07/15C1

Design development - additional tender info

TMcDTHMR11/09/15C2

Issued for Construction - design update EW126

TMcDTHEE25/07/16C3

C4 01/03/17 EE TH TMcD

Issued for Construction - EW183

 Removal of bollard stop lines 

 TH  TH  TH 22/08/17 C5 

C5 C5

P
age 50



 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
CABINET 

 
4 JUNE 2018  

 
 

 
APPROVAL TO ALLOCATE ADDITIONAL FUNDS TO THE WATERMEADOW 
COURT DEMOLITION BUDGET 
 

Report of the: Cabinet Member for the Economy and the Arts – Councillor 
Andrew Jones and Cabinet Member for Housing – Councillor Lisa Homan 
 

Open report 
A separate report on the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda provides financial 
information. 
 

Classification - For Decision  
Key Decision: Yes 
 

Wards Affected: Sands End 
 

Accountable Director: Jo Rowlands, Strategic Director for Growth & Place  
 

Report Author:  
Matt Rumble,  
Head of Area Regeneration 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 07786747488 
E-mail: matt.rumble@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report concerns the redevelopment of Watermeadow Court Estate under 

the Joint Venture arrangement with Stanhope.  
 
1.2. The report requests additional budget for clearance, enabling works and 

security of the buildings on the site under the demolition contractor Coleman 
and Company (C&C) and gives reasons for the additional budget requirement. 
It also seeks approval for direct award of security services to the demolition 
and enabling works contractor, Coleman & Company to keep the site secure 
and protect the integrity of the site until hard demolition commences. 
 

1.3. This report also requests additional budget for Employer’s Agent consultancy 
fees, consultancy contingency and capitalised staff salaries and UK Power 
Networks utility disconnection costs and gives reasons for the additional 
budget requirement. 

 
 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6

mailto:matt.rumble@lbhf.gov.uk


 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1. That approval be given to allocate an additional £563,000 to the approved 

budget for the site clearance, enabling work and demolition of Watermeadow 
Court Housing Estate to cover the increased costs of site clearance and 
security under the demolition and enabling works contract funded by 
unrestricted capital receipts from the Decent Neighbourhoods programme and 
to note this will ultimately increase the Housing Capital Financing 
Requirement. 

 
2.2. That approval be given to allocate an additional £95,000 to the already 

approved budget of £100,000 for increased Employer’s Agent consultancy 
fees, consultancy contingency and capitalised staff salaries and UK Power 
Networks utility disconnection costs funded by unrestricted capital receipts 
from the Decent Neighbourhoods programme and to note this will ultimately 
increase the Housing Capital Financing Requirement. 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1. These are set out in the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda. 
 
4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

 
4.1. These are set out in the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda. 
 
5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

 
5.1. These are set out in the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda. 

 
6. CONSULTATION 

 
6.1. No external consultation has taken place on recommendations in this report 
 
7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1. It is not anticipated that there will be any negative implications for any groups 

with protected characteristics, under the terms of the Equalities Act 2010, with 
the granting of additional funds to cover the increased costs of site clearance 
and security at Watermeadow Court Housing Estate. 
 

7.2. Peter Smith, Head of Policy and Strategy, Tel. 020 8753 2206. 
 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1. This report follows on from a Leaders Urgency report last year when approval 
was given to the award of a main works demolition contract, and to an 
enabling works contract (including site clearance) formalised through a letter 
of intent. The main works contract has not yet been formally awarded pending 
resolution of planning issues. 
 

Page 52



 

 

8.2. With the site clearance element of the works being more expensive than 
envisaged, approval is sought to extend the scope of the letter intent to cover 
this. 
 

8.3. For the additional security required to keep the site secure, this was not part 
of enabling works contract as approved last year, because that included only 
a nominal cost for security. For the purpose of both Council Contract Standing 
Orders (CSOs) and the European public procurement regime, this additional 
need for services is treated as a new contractual requirement.  
 

8.4. Under the European public procurement regulations, this new requirement 
would be for services as opposed to works. The current threshold for 
tendering services requirements is £181,302, so assuming that the contract 
value indicated in item 4.14 (contained in the exempt part of the report) of 
£166k is not exceeded significantly, then there is no breach of the European 
procurement rules. However, if the main contract were not awarded in August 
as anticipated, there is a risk that this threshold will be exceeded, which would 
place the Council in breach of the regulations.  
 

8.5. Under CSO 3, a waiver of the requirement to comply with Contract Standing 
Orders, especially in relation to procurement procedures, can be granted 
where the relevant decision-maker is satisfied that one of five specified 
justifications is made out. Here the relevant ground would be that the waiver is 
“in the Council’s overall interests”, and members need to be satisfied that the 
explanation given in section 4 (contained in the exempt part of the report) 
does explain how the waiver is in the Council’s overall interests. 
 

8.6. Members also need to be satisfied that there is sufficient information about the 
proposed budget increase for them to make a decision on this. 
 

8.7. Deborah Down, Senior Associate at Sharpe Pritchard on secondment to the 
Council – email: ddown@sharpepritchard.co.uk 

 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
9.1. These are set out in the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda. 

 
10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

 
10.1. The demolition contract’s employer’s requirements will place an obligation on 

C&C to undertake targeted recruitment and training and use local supply 
chains and business where possible. 
 

10.2. David Burns, Head of Housing Strategy, Tel. 07810057485. 
 
11. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

 
11.1 These are set out in the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda. 

 
 

Page 53

mailto:ddown@sharpepritchard.co.uk


 

 

 
12. IT IMPLICATIONS  

 
12.1. No implications for ICT.  

 
12.2. Veronica Barella, interim Chief Information Officer, Tel. 020 8753 2927. 

 
13. RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
13.1. The report proposals are consistent with expectations of the local taxpayer 

and community to manage local environmental issues around the site. This is 
to ensure a safe site by reducing potential hazards caused by waste and a 
provide a secure site. The purpose of this report is to approve a budget to 
mitigate risks associated with the Watermeadow court site The works 
instructed to date have ensured that the site is fully cleared and cleaned. It 
has also de-risked the site of a number of health and safety hazards and 
removed a large fire risk.  
 

13.2. The appointed works contractor C&C maintain a project risk register.  
 

13.3. Michael Sloniowski, Risk Manager, Tel. 020 8753 2587. 
 
14. OTHER IMPLICATIONS PARAGRAPHS 
 
14.1. None 
 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

 None 
 

  

 
 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: NONE 
 

 
 

Page 54



 
NOTICE OF CONSIDERATION OF A KEY DECISION  
In accordance with paragraph 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the Cabinet hereby gives notice of 
Key Decisions which it intends to consider at its next meeting and at future meetings. The list 
may change between the date of publication of this list and the date of future  Cabinet meetings. 
 

NOTICE OF THE INTENTION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN 
PRIVATE  
The Cabinet also hereby gives notice in accordance with paragraph 5 of the above 
Regulations  that it intends to meet in private after its public meeting to consider Key Decisions  
which may contain confidential or exempt information.  The private meeting of the Cabinet is 
open only to Members of the Cabinet, other Councillors and Council officers.  
 
Reports relating to key decisions which the Cabinet will take at its private meeting are indicated 
in the list of Key Decisions below, with the reasons for the decision being made in private.  Any 
person is able to make representations to the Cabinet if he/she believes the decision should 
instead be made in the public Cabinet meeting. If you want to make such representations, 
please e-mail  Katia Richardson on katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk.  You will then be sent a 
response in reply to your representations. Both your representations and the Executive’s 
response will be published on the Council’s website at least 5 working days before the Cabinet 
meeting. 

 
KEY DECISIONS PROPOSED TO BE MADE BY CABINET ON 4 JUNE 2018 AND 
AT FUTURE CABINET MEETINGS UNTIL JULY 2018 
 

The following is a list of Key Decisions which the Authority proposes to take at the 
above Cabinet meeting and future meetings. The list may change over the next few 
weeks. A further notice will be published no less than 5 working days before the date of 
the Cabinet meeting showing the final list of Key Decisions to be considered at that 
meeting.  
 
KEY DECISIONS are those which are likely to result in one or more of the following: 
 

 Any expenditure or savings which are significant (ie. in excess of £100,000)  in 
relation to the Council’s budget for the service function to which the decision 
relates; 

 

 Anything affecting communities living or working in an area comprising two or 
more wards in the borough; 

 

 Anything significantly affecting communities within one ward (where practicable); 
 

 Anything affecting the budget and policy framework set by the Council. 
 
The Key Decisions List will be updated and published on the Council’s website on a 
monthly basis.  
 

NB: Key Decisions will generally be taken by the Executive at the Cabinet.  
If you have any queries on this Key Decisions List, please contact 

Katia Richardson on 020 8753 2368  or by e-mail to katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7

mailto:katia.richardson@lbhf.gov.uk/


 
 

 
Access to Cabinet reports and other relevant documents 

 
Reports and documents relevant to matters to be considered at the Cabinet’s public meeting 
will be available on the Council’s website (www.lbhf.org.uk) a minimum of 5 working days 
before the meeting. Further information, and other relevant documents as they become 
available, can be obtained from the contact officer shown in column 4 of the list below.  

 
Decisions 

 
All decisions taken by Cabinet may be implemented 5 working days after the relevant Cabinet 
meeting, unless called in by Councillors. 
 

 
Making your Views Heard 

 
You can comment on any of the items in this list by contacting the officer shown in column 4. 
You can also submit a deputation to the Cabinet. Full details of how to do this (and the date by 
which a deputation must be submitted) will be shown in the Cabinet agenda. 
 

 
 
LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM: CABINET 2017/18 
 
Leader:           Councillor Stephen Cowan  
Deputy Leader:           Councillor Sue Fennimore   
Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Residents Services:   Councillor Wesley Harcourt  
Cabinet Member for Housing:        Councillor Lisa Homan  
Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration:   Councillor Andrew Jones  
Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care:     Councillor Ben Coleman 
Cabinet Member for Children and Education:      Councillor Sue Macmillan  
Cabinet Member for Finance:        Councillor Max Schmid  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key Decisions List No. 66 (published 3 May 2018) 

Page 56

http://www.lbhf.org.uk/


 

KEY DECISIONS LIST - CABINET ON 4 JUNE 2018 
The list also includes decisions proposed to be made by future Cabinet meetings 

 
Where column 3 shows a report as EXEMPT, the report for 

this proposed decision will be considered at the private Cabinet meeting. Anybody may make 
representations to the Cabinet to the effect that the report should be considered at the open 

Cabinet meeting (see above).  
 

* All these decisions may be called in by Councillors; If a decision is called in, it will not be capable of 
implementation until a final decision is made.  

 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

4 June 2018 

Cabinet 
 

4 Jun 2018 
 

Former BBC television centre 
site, Wood Lane W12 - 
Construction of vehicle access 
points (Section 106 Highway 
works) 
 
This urgency report seeks 
approval to implement the section 
106 highway works for the former 
BBC Television Centre and 
approval to spend the estimated 
cost of the works. 
 
In 2015 planning permission was 
granted to redevelop the former 
BBC Television Centre site on the 
western side of Wood Lane 
(reference 2014/02531/COMB).  
 
The Heads of Terms set out in the 
S106 agreement included highway 
improvements (Area 1 - Wood 
Lane outside the former BBC 
Television Centre). 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment, Transport 
& Residents' Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
College Park and Old 
Oak; Shepherds Bush 
Green 
 

Contact officer: 
Michael Masella 
 
michael.masell@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

4 Jun 2018 
 

Upgrade of Community Alarm 
Monitoring and Associated 
Disaster Recovery Solution 
 
To request approval for the 
necessary upgrade to the IT 
system supporting the council's 
Careline Service. 
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 

Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Tim 
Lothian 
Tel: 020 8753 5377 
tim.lothian@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 57



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet 
 

4 Jun 2018 
 

DEMOLITION OF 
WATERMEADOW COURT - 
APPROVAL TO ALLOCATE 
ADDITIONAL FUNDS TO THE 
WATERMEADOW COURT 
DEMOLITION BUDGET 
 
The report requests additional 
funds be allocated to the project to 
cover the cost of removing 
significant fly-tipped material, and 
pay for site security. 
 
PART OPEN 
 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Economic Development 
and Regeneration 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Sands End 
 

Contact officer: 
Matthew Doman 
Tel: 02087534547 
Matthew.Doman@lbhf.gov.u
k 

 

Cabinet 
 

4 Jun 2018 
 

H&F Emergency planning to 
major incidents 
 
This report is a follow up to the 
immediate Emergency Planning 
Lessons Learned Report, which 
was presented to the Finance and 
Delivery Policy and Accountability 
Committee (PAC) on 6th 
September 2017. 
 
A further and separate review of 

Deputy Leader 

 
A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
Addison 
 

Contact officer: Peter 
Smith 
Tel: 020 8753 2206 
peter.smith@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 58



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

the H&F Emergency Planning 
service and the response to both 
Grenfell Tower and the Parsons 
Green incident has been 
commissioned from an 
independent consultant and the 
results will be incorporated in this 
report once that review has been 
completed. 
 

considered. 
 

Cabinet 
 

4 Jun 2018 
 

Implementation of the 
Recommendations of the 
Poverty and Worklessness 
Commission 
 
This report sets out proposals for 
the implementation of the 
recommendations of the H&F 
Poverty and Worklessness 
Commission. It seeks funding for a 
Policy and Project Officer post and 
community capacity building 
resources to establish ‘community 
hubs’ in areas of deprivation 
across the borough. It also seeks 
funding for a review of 
volunteering across the borough. 
 

Deputy Leader 

 
A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Peter 
Smith 
Tel: 020 8753 2206 
peter.smith@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

9 July 2018 

Cabinet 
 

9 Jul 2018 
 

60 Benworth Road - educational 
capital investment 
 
Capital investment in the schools 
largely funded by the Academy 
with a capital receipt from an asset 
of the caretakers house next to the 
school. 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
North End 
 

Contact officer: Nigel 
Brown 
Tel: 020 8753 2835 
Nigel.Brown@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 59



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

9 Jul 2018 
 

Corporate Property Services 
Framework 
 
The report outlines revised LOTS 
to ensure external advice can be 
secured on a wide range of 
property advice to ensure the 
administrations outcomes on 
assets are delivered  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Nigel 
Brown 
Tel: 020 8753 2835 
Nigel.Brown@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

9 Jul 2018 
 

Corporate Planned Maintenance 
Programme (CPMP) 2018/2019 
 
To provide proposals for the 
delivery and funding of the 
2018/2019 Corporate Planned 
Maintenance Programme (CPMP) 
for the Council’s corporate 
property portfolio. 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
Information relating to any 
individual. 
Information which is likely to reveal 
the identity of an individual. 
Information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
Information relating to any 
consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with 
any labour relations matter arising 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment, Transport 
& Residents' Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Nigel 
Brown 
Tel: 020 8753 2835 
Nigel.Brown@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 60



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

between the authority or a Minister 
of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under the authority. 
Information in respect of which a 
claim to legal professional 
privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings. 
Information which reveals that the 
authority proposes - to give under 
any enactment a notice under or 
by virtue of which requirements 
are imposed on a person, or to 
make an order or direction under 
any enactment, 
Any action taken or to be taken in 
connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of 
crime. 
Information which is subject to any 
obligation of confidentiality. 
Information which relates in any 
way to matters concerning national 
security. 
The deliberations of a standards 
committee or of a sub-committee 
of a standards committee 
established under the provisions of 
Part 3 of the Local Government 
Act 2000 in reaching any finding 
on a matter referred under the 
provisions of section 60(2) or (3), 
64(2), 70(4) or (5) or 71(2) of that 
Act. 
 

Cabinet 
 

9 Jul 2018 
 

Options For The Commercial 
Letting Of The Former Ginglik 
Club, 1 Shepherds Bush Green 
W12 8ph And Ravenscourt 
Central Stores 
 
Proposal to generate income from 
commercial properties within the 
LBHF portfolio that are currently 
vacant or non income producing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment, Transport 
& Residents' Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Income more 
than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Henry 
Azariah 
Tel: 020 8753 5191 
Henry.Azariah@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 61



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

9 Jul 2018 
 

Designation of conservation 
area extensions and 
conservation area boundary 
amendments and adoption of 
conservation area character 
profiles 
 

Designation of conservation 
area extensions and boundary 
amendments affecting 11 
existing conservation areas and 
adoption of conservation area 
character profiles for three 
existing conservation areas. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Environment, Transport 
& Residents' Services 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
Avonmore and Brook 
Green; College Park 
and Old Oak; Fulham 
Broadway; Fulham 
Reach; Hammersmith 
Broadway; Munster; 
Parsons Green and 
Walham; Shepherds 
Bush Green; Town; 
Wormholt and White 
City 
 

Contact officer: Adam 
O'Neill, Paul 
Goodacre 
Tel: 020 8753 3314 
paul.goodacre@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

9 Jul 2018 
 

Appropriation of Watermeadow 
Court and Edith Summerskill 
House 
 
The report requests approval for 
delegated authority to grant 
resolution to appropriate rights 
affecting Edith Summerskill House 
and Watermeadow Court in order 
to deliver new housing. 
 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Economic Development 
and Regeneration 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Matthew Doman, 
Matthew Rumble 
Tel: 02087534547, 
Matthew.Doman@lbhf.gov.u
k, matt.rumble@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 62



 
 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents to 
be submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other relevant 
documents may 
be submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

9 Jul 2018 
 

Main Contractor Procurement & 
Contract Award For TBAP 
Bridge AP Academy Site 
 
Following a procurement exercise 
over the summer 2016 this 
decision will be to award the 
contract to the successful 
contractor. 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
Palace Riverside 
 

Contact officer: Ian 
Turner 
Tel: 020 7605 8337 
Ian.Turner@rbkc.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

9 Jul 2018 
 

HRA Housing Capital 
Programme 2018/19 to 2021/22 
 
This report provides specific 
details of the 2018/19 and 2019/20 
housing capital programme, 
proposes budget envelopes for the 
following two financial years, and 
seeks authority to proceed with the 
various projects identified in 
Appendix 1. 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Mark 
Brayford 
Tel: 020 8753 4159 
Mark.Brayford@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Cabinet 
 

9 Jul 2018 
 

LBHF Lot 1 Self Service 
 
The acceleration of the Self 
Service procurement will result in 
the award of contract in 
July/August. As no cabinet 
meeting will be in place then and 
the procurement will still be in 
progress for the July Cabinet, the 
contract award needs to be 
delegated to meet the 
implementation timetable. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

 

A detailed report 
for this item will be 
available at least 
five working days 
before the date of 
the meeting and 
will include details 
of any supporting 
documentation 
and / or 
background 
papers to be 
considered. 

Reason: 
Expenditure 
more than 
£100,000 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Maria 
Ellis 
Tel: 07971053865 
Maria.Ellis@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 63


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting held on 16 April 2018
	4 Annual Emergency Planning & Business Continuity Report
	5 Former BBC television centre site, Wood Lane W12 - Construction of vehicle access points (Section 106 Highway works)
	Appendix A - Arup Drawing no_TVC-AR-X-XX-DR-C-8011
	Appendix B - Arup Drawing no_TVC-AR-X-XX-DR-C-8103

	6 Approval To Allocate Additional Funds To The Watermeadow Court Demolition Budget
	7 Forward Plan of Key Decisions

